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Bef ore GARWOOD, DAVIS and SMTH, Ci rcuit Judges.
GARWOOD, Circuit Judge:

Def endant - appel l ant Julius C. Bonmar (Bomar) challenges the
sufficiency of the evidence supporting his conviction for violation
of a provision of the Soldiers' and Sailors' Cvil Relief Act of
1940 (the Act), 50 U.S.C. app. 8 535(2), (3). Bomar was convicted
of enforcing and attenpting to enforce, wthout seeking court
approval, a lien for storage of a 1985 Chevrol et Camaro owned by
Gordon McNeely (McNeely), a corporal in the United States Arny
Reserve Unit who served on active duty in Saudi Arabia during
Operation Desert Storm He challenges the sufficiency of the

evi dence supporting his conviction. W affirm



Fact ual Background

McNeely was a corporal in the United States Arny Reserves,
serving wth the 340t h Chem cal Conpany, a chem cal decontam nation
unit trained to conbat the effects of chemical warfare.! On
Novenber 17, 1990, he received his orders placing himon active
mlitary duty, and his unit was assigned to Fort Hood, Texas, to
prepare for Qperation Desert Storm

Central to this prosecution is a 1985 Chevrol et Camaro which
McNeely bought from his sister, Meredith MNeely Phipher
(Meredith), in July 1988. On Decenber 15, 1990, while on |eave
from Fort Hood, MNeely went to Houston, Texas. He was
experiencing problenms with his car, which he attributed to the
transm ssion. He took the car to a |ocal transm ssion shop, Buy
Direct Transmi ssion (Buy Direct).? There, the defendant, who

identified hinmself as "Doc,"® said he was too busy to |ook at

. Wil e stationed in Saudi Arabia during Operation Desert
Storm MNeely was transferred to the 327th Chem cal Conpany, a
sister unit.

2 McNeely testified that he chose Buy Direct on the strength
of an advertisenent in a |ocal Geen Sheet; Buy Direct was the
only business which prom sed sane-day service.

3 Before the district court, Bomar attenpted to show that
references to "Doc" need not inplicate him The defense called
Arturo Perez, an enployee of Buy Direct during the relevant tine
period. Perez testified that during February, Mrch, and Apri
1991, a part-tine nmanager nanmed Leo worked for Buy Direct; this
enpl oyee occasionally identified hinself over the tel ephone as
"Doc." Perez conceded on cross-exam nation by the governnent,
however, that if he thought of "Doc" at Buy Direct, he thought of
Bomar, not Leo; he also stated that he had never heard Leo
di scuss McNeely's car with anyone, but that he did know of at
| east one occasi on when Bormar spoke with soneone about the car.
We hold that the evidence is sufficient to conclude that the
person identified as "Doc" is the defendant, Julius Bonar.
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McNeely's car at that tine. McNeely infornmed Bomar that he was
stationed at Fort Hood and woul d not be able to bring the car back
the follow ng day. Bomar suggested that MNeely |eave the car
there for him to inspect at his (Bomar's) first opportunity.
McNeely agreed, and instructed Bomar to | ook at the transm ssion
but to notify himbefore any work was done on the car; MNeely | eft
Bomar the tel ephone nunber to his unit at Fort Hood in order for
t he defendant to reach himw th the information about his car.

Several days later, on the 17th, MNeely called Buy D rect
from Fort Hood and asked to speak to Doc. The defendant cane to
the phone. MNeely told Bomar not to do any work on the car and
that he would send soneone to pick it up. Bomar replied that he
had already disassenbled the car's transm ssion and requested
payment in the amount of $194 for his |abor. MNeely asked himto
put the car back together for soneone to pick up; Bomar then stated
that if he had to reassenble the vehicle, he would have to charge
approxi mately $400. Bomar demanded full paynent in order to
rel ease the car and hung up the phone.

During the next week, McNeely tried unsuccessfully to call Buy
Direct. During his leave for the Christmas holidays, he went to
Buy Direct to get his car, but the business was closed. Finally,
on January 7, 1991, while again on |eave from Fort Hood, MNeely
went to Buy Direct and spoke to Bomar about working out a deal with
himon the car. Because he did not want to pay $400 for nothing
and because his departure for Saudi Arabia was inmnent, MNeely
agreed to buy anot her transm ssion and pay Bomar $70 to install it.

McNeely left, and later returned to Buy Direct with a transm ssi on
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he had purchased for the car. Bomar told himit would take about
an hour toinstall the newtransm ssion, and McNeely | eft the shop.

McNeely was gone for approximtely three hours. During that
time, he called Buy Direct twice to determne if his car was ready;
both tinmes Bomar infornmed himthat it was not ready. MNeely told
Bomar that he was due back at Fort Hood t hat eveni ng and needed his
car to get there; Bomar assured him that it was al nost ready.
McNeely finished up sone personal business and went to Buy Direct
where he found that his car still was not repaired. Wen the car
was finally ready, Bomar told himthat he had done sone additiona
work on the car and that the charges would be $194. McNeel y
rem nded him of the agreed $70 for the installation, but Bomar
demanded $194 to release the car. MNeely did not have the ful
amount in cash, but he offered to pay $100 in cash, wite a check
for $94, and | et Bormar keep the old transm ssion. Bomar insisted
on the entire $194 in cash.* MNeely told him he could get the
remai ni ng noney in cash in about fifteen mnutes, fromhis nother
who worked six blocks from the Buy Direct business. Bomar then
told himthat he did not want to wait for the noney.

At this point, MNeely asked Bomar to call the owner of Buy
Direct; when Bomar refused, McNeely asked himto call the Houston
Pol i ce Departnent. When Bomar declined to do so, MNeely again
asked himto call the owner. Bomar again refused and pulled a
pi stol from a desk drawer, cocked it, and said "This is the only

person | need to talk to." MNeely left the store.

4 Buy Direct had a store policy of not accepting checks.
There were signs to this effect around the busi ness prem ses.
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McNeely drove in his nother's car to a nearby conveni ence
store where he attenpted to flag down a police car; failing that,
he went to a police substation and filled out the initial report
for an aggravated assault charge. Later, he returned to the
conveni ence store where he called 911. Two officers responded to
the call, and after McNeely explained the situation to them they
proceeded to Buy Direct. The shop was closed, and no one was
t here.

McNeel y picked his nother up and rented a car to get back to
Fort Hood. Wthin the week, his arm unit was sent to Saudi
Ar abi a. Once in Saudi Arabia, MNeely's unit was sent to the
front, and it was not until March 1991 that he was able to attenpt
comuni cation with Buy Direct.

On March 15, he called Buy Direct, asked to speak wth Doc,
and told Doc, or Bomar, that he was returning soon to the United
States and wanted to pick up the car. Bomar told himit woul d cost
approximately $2,000 to redeemthe car and informed himthat the
nmoney was for storage fees. Wile he was in Saudi Arabia, MNeely
contacted his nother and sister and requested themto try to get
the car fromBuy D rect.

McNeely returned to the United States on April 21, 1991. His
sister informed himthat there was a lien on the car. McNeel y
consulted an attorney, who advised himto make no attenpt to get
his car back

Meredith testified that she was not aware of any problens with
her brother's car until after he had left for Saudi Arabia. He

call ed her collect fromSaudi Arabia to ask her to ask their nother



to get the car fromBuy Direct. MNeely's nother (Ms. MNeely)
t el ephoned Buy Direct and ascertained that the car was still there.
She spoke with Bomar, who identified hinself as "Doc." Ms.
McNeel y expl ained that she was McNeely's nother and would like to
pick up the car; Bomar told her he wanted $1800 for the car. In
response to questioning by Ms. MNeely, he explained that $195 was
for repairs and the rest for storage. Meredith al so spoke to Bomar
over the telephone; he told her he did not want to talk to her
about the car because it was not her car and she had not brought it
into him

Later, Meredith agai n spoke with Bomar over the tel ephone. He
told her it would cost $1,800 or $1,900 to get the car back;
according to the defendant, $194.50 was for actual work done, and
the rest of the fee was for storage fees, at $15 per day. Bomar
told her he had sent her sone papers, which she had not received
due to a recent nove. She gave him her new address.

After Meredith received a paper fromU. S. Data Link, atitling
conpany used by Bomar to process lien requests, she called Bonar.
The paper stated the defendant would have a lien on the car if she
did not pay $194.50. Wen she subsequently tal ked to Bomar, he
told her that the $194.50 was for the car repairs, but that storage
fees totalled over $2,000 at that time. He informed her that if
she did not retrieve the car within thirty days by paying the full
bill, he would sell the car at auction. According to Meredith,
Bomar told her if she paid, she could have the car; he did not
qui bbl e over her not being the owner of the car.

Ms. MNeely went to Buy Direct on March 25, 1991. Bomar was



not in the office. She waited for two hours until the defendant
arrived. He introduced hinself as "Doc." They went into his
office and tal ked about the price of the car. He told her the
charges for the car were $2, 000, $195 for repairs and t he renmai nder
for storage. Ms. MNeely told him she did not have that nuch
noney with her; she had $300 cash with which she attenpted to
negotiate with Bomar. She told himMNeely was in Saudi Arabia and
that she needed to get his car. Bomar arranged to call her the
next norni ng.

On March 26, when Bomar failed to call her at the arranged
time, Ms. MNeely went back to Buy Direct. Bomar was not in; she
waited for alnost an hour, but he did not appear. She left and
call ed the business that afternoon and asked for Doc. Bomar cane
to the phone and told her she did not have a car there and he did
not want to talk to her, and he hung up the tel ephone. M s.
McNeely testified that Bomar never asked her to provide the title
to the car; he would have Il et her take the car if she had paid him
the requested anount of noney.

O her peopl e contacted Bomar at Buy Direct on McNeel y's behal f
to attenpt to get his car back. Chris Carnero (Carnero), a worker
for QOperation Dependent Shield, a foundation created to help the
famlies of the reservists who were called to active duty, and Lee
Wods (Wods), the chairman of the foundation, testified for the
governnent.® Ms. MNeely contacted Carnero on March 27 to seek

the foundation's help in recovering the Camaro for McNeely, who was

5 The foundation provided such services as financial aid,
counseling, legal services, nedical help, and car repair.
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still in Saudi Arabia. On April 10, Carnero called Buy Direct and
spoke with a person who identified hinmself as "Doc." Carnero told
"Doc" that the McNeelys were willing to pay for the repairs on the
Camar o. "Doc" replied that it would cost nore than just the
repair; he also wanted approximately $1,200 in storage fees and
woul d not release the car until the bill was paidinits entirety.
Carnero i nformed "Doc" that he would be violating federal |aw, the
Soldiers' and Sailors' Cvil Relief Act; Bomar responded that he
just wanted his noney. "Doc" rejected Carnero's attenpt to
negoti ate the paynent of part of the storage fees; in addition, he
refused to consider holding the car wthout charging further
storage fees. Following this conversation, Carnero tried to reach
"Doc" again but was unsuccessful. Carnero turned the case over to
Wods.

Wods called Buy Direct on April 16, 1991, and spoke to a
person who identified hinself as "Doc." Wods expl ai ned the nature
of his call, telling "Doc" that he hoped they could settle the
probl em of McNeely's car. "Doc" again insisted on paynent of the
full anmount he clai ned was owed him he told Wods that there were
storage fees on top of the repair charges, and he indicated that he
had filed a lien on McNeely's car. Wods informed himthat the
lien was probably a violation of the Soldiers' and Sailors' G vil
Relief Act. At this point in the discussion, "Doc" becane angry

and ended t he conversation.?®

6 According to Wods, "Doc" termnated their conversation with
the words: "F--- you. F--- the governnent. F--- the U S. Arny.
F--- Gordon McNeely.™



Wiile the McNeelys were attenpting to get the Camaro back
Bomar was taking steps to perfect his interest in the car. Terri
Stewart (Stewart), the office manager for the title division of
U S Data Link in Baytown, Texas, testified that Buy D rect
submtted a formauthorizing U S. Data Link to act as its agent in
filing a lien for mechanic and storage fees on MNeely's car
Al though this form expressly requested that storage charges be
added to the lien, starting from January 3, 1991, U S. Data Link
was unable to obtain a storage lien because, under state
regul ations, it was required to obtain a release fromthe first
i enhol der, GVAC, before the nechanic's lien foreclosure could be
processed; U. S. Data Link had not obtained this release and was
therefore not able to obtain a lien for storage.’

On March 13, 1991, U. S. Data Link sent a notice of possessory
lien to Meredith notifying her of its intent to foreclose on the
car. The foreclosure was requested by Buy D rect. The notice
provi ded that the anmount owed was $194. 50.

In May 1991, Bomar sold the Camaro for $1,800 to Jeffery
Taylor (Taylor), the owner of J. T. Auto Sal es, in Houston. Taylor
had previously purchased two or three cars from Bomar, and Bomar
did transm ssion work for Taylor's conpany. Bomar told himhe had
done sone transm ssion work on the car and was selling it to
recover his expenses. Taylor considered hinself the owner of the

vehi cl e, al though he conceded that he did not have a certificate of

! It is unclear exactly why U S. Data Link was unable to
obtain the lien; at the tine of the events in question here,
McNeely had paid off the GVAC |i en.
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title. Bomar gave himthe notice of possessory |ien, but Tayl or
never processed the notice; at first he was not sure what to do
wth the form and | ater, once inforned of the proceedi ngs agai nst
Bomar, he waited until the matter could be cleared up.
Proceedi ngs Bel ow

The singl e-count indictnent charged that Bomar "di d know ngly
and willfully enforce and attenpt to enforce a lien for storage of
househol d goods and personal effects of" a person in mlitary
service, "to wit, a 1985 Chevrolet Camaro bel onging to" MNeely,
w thout first seeking an order by a court and return thereto made
and approved by the court, in violation of 50 U.S.C. app. 8 535(2),
(3).% Bomar pleaded not guilty and proceeded to trial.

Follow ng a two-day trial, the jury found Bomar guilty of the
charged offense. |In sentencing the defendant, the district court

accepted the factual findings and sentencing reconmendati on of the

8 Section 535(2) of the Act provides, in pertinent part:

"No person shall exercise any right to forecl ose or
enforce any lien for storage of househol d goods,
furniture, or personal effects of a personin mlitary
service during such person's period of mlitary service
and for three nonths thereafter except upon an order
previously granted by a court upon application therefor
and a return thereto made and approved by the court.™

Section 535(3) provides:

"Any person who shall know ngly take any action
contrary to the provisions of this section, or attenpts
so to do, shall be fined as provided in title 18,
United States Code, or inprisoned for not to exceed one
year, or both"

Prior toits March 18, 1991, anendnent, section 535(3) was
the sanme except that the wording follow ng "shall be" was "guilty
of a m sdeneanor and shall be punished by inprisonnment not to
exceed one year or by fine not to exceed $1,000, or both."
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presentence investigation report and sentenced Bomar to 3 years'
probation, with the special conditions of 6 nonths' hone detention
and 250 hours of community service. |In addition, the court ordered
himto pay $4,000 in restitution to McNeely and to return the car
to McNeely free of charge.

Bomar appeals his conviction, challenging the sufficiency of
the evidence in three specific respects.

Di scussi on

Faced with a claim of insufficient evidence to support a
convi cti on, we review the evidence, whet her di rect or
circunstantial, and all the inferences reasonably drawn fromit, in
the Iight nost favorable to the verdict. United States v. Sal azar,
958 F.2d 1285, 1290-1291 (5th GCr.), cert. denied, 113 S. Ct. 185
(1992).

Bomar rai ses only three chall enges to his conviction, claimng
that there was insufficient evidence that he foreclosed or
attenpted to enforce a lien for storage, that McNeely was t he owner
of the car, and that he (Bomar) had not attenpted to gain court
approval of any forecl osure proceedi ngs.
| . Lien for Storage Charges

Bomar argues that the evidence is insufficient to prove that
he foreclosed or attenpted to enforce alien for storage; he clains
first that the lien was not for storage, and second, that he took
no steps to enforce the I|ien.

In his original brief on appeal, Bomar contends that, to fal
within the nmeaning of the Act, a lien nust be limted to storage

char ges:
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"[t]he plain terns of section 535 of [the Act] indicate

the legislative intent to protect a servicenen's [sic]

househol d goods, furniture, or personal effects when the

servicenen [sic] left the itens with the defendant for

the purpose of storing those itens while the servicenman

is on active duty." (Enphasis added.)
Bomar argues that the lien in question here was for nmechanics fees,
not for storage, and thus he cannot be guilty of violating the
Act.® We disagree. The wording of the Act does not include an
express requirenent that a lien be solely for storage; rather it
speaks of "any lien for storage." 50 U.S.C app. & 535(2)
(enphasis added). Nor may we read into the statute a requirenent
that the lien be restricted to (as opposed to include) storage
fees. "The Soldiers' and Sailors' Cvil Relief Act is always to be
liberally construed to protect those who have been obliged to drop
their own affairs to take up the burdens of the nation." Boone v.
Lightner, 63 S. Ct. 1223, 1231 (1943). Certainly, inorder to fall
wthin the Act, a lien nust include charges for storage, but the
[ien need not be limted to such fees.

Bomar's position that he did not have a lien for storage is
not supported by Texas | aw. The Texas Property Code provi des that
a garageman with whoma vehicle is | eft for care has a lien on that

vehicle for the amount of the charges for the care. Tex. Prop. CoDE

ANN. 8§ 70.003(c) (Vernon 1993 Supp.). In addition, the Code

o Bomar concedes that the formsent by Buy Direct authorizing
U S Data Link to file a lien on the Camaro expressly |isted both
repair charges and storage charges of $15 per day. He argues,
however, that he did not sign the formand thus the request
cannot be attributed to him The formwas signed by Yol anda
McFarl and, the secretary at Buy Direct. Although Bomar did not
sign the formhinself, the evidence adequately supports the
inference that it was sent at his direction.
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aut hori zed himto retai n possession of the vehicle until the anount
due under the repair contract, or reasonabl e and usual conpensation
in the event there is no contract anount, is paid. Id., 8§
70.001(a) (Vernon 1984). The statute provides for the possessory
| i enhol der, such as Bomar, to give notice of his interest in the
car to the last known registered owner and each I|ienhol der of
record. 1d., 8 70.004(a) (Vernon 1993 Supp.). Most inportantly,
the statute entitles the possessory lienholder to "reasonable
storage fees for up to 5 days before the day the notice is nmail ed"
and after the notice is miled to "reasonable storage and
preservation fees until the notor vehicle . . . is renoved and
accrued charges are paid." 1d., 8§ 70.004(c) (Vernon 1993 Supp.).

Thus, under Texas |aw, Bomar had valid grounds for asserting
alien for the storage of the Canaro.

Bomar next contends that he did not ultimately enforce the
Iien because he did not conplete the steps necessary to forecl ose
the storage part of the lien. He argues that U S. Data Link was
unable to obtain a lien for storage on the Camaro because of the
exi stence of a first |ienhol der. However, although the title
search revealed a GMAC lien on the car, the lien had been paid off
before these events occurred.

Bomar's argunent ignores the fact that he can be |iable under
the "or attenpts so to do" | anguage of section 535(3) (see note 8,
supra) for attenpting to foreclose or enforce the lien. The
evi dence of such an attenpt is overwhel mng. On several occasions,
McNeely's nother and sister, as well as the representatives of

Oper ati on Def endant Shi el d, approached Bomar with offers to pay the
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repair charges due on the Camaro, as well as part of the accrued
storage fees. Each tinme, Bomar refused to negotiate and denmanded
paynent in full of anmpbunts as high as $1,800 or $2,000.® These
anounts far exceed the repair charges of $194.50, which were
excessive to begin with and based, at least originally, on work
whi ch McNeely never authorized. Finally, when Bomar sold the car
to Taylor for $1,800, he pocketed the entire amount.!! He gave
Tayl or the notice of possessory lien, the form necessary to begin
forecl osure proceedi ngs on the car.

This evidence is clearly sufficient for a reasonable jury to
determ ne that Bomar attenpted to enforce a lien for storage of
McNeel y' s Canar o.

1. Ownership of the Car

Bomar's next challenge to his conviction is that Meredith, not
McNeely, was the owner of the Camaro; because she was not in
mlitary service, he argues, any attenpt to forecl ose on a storage
lien on her car could not be a violation of the Act. McNeel y
conceded at trial that the title to the car was still in Meredith's

name; neither he nor his sister had taken steps to transfer the

10 Bomar attenpts to argue that he would not release the car to
McNeel y' s not her or sister because they were not the owner of the
car or had not brought the car in for service. Not only does
this argunment contradict his contention that Meredith, not
McNeely, was the owner of the car, it conflicts with testinony

t hat Bomar woul d have released the car if paid the full anmount he
cl ai mred was due.

1 Ms. Stewart at U.S. Data Link testified that the mechanic's
lien here was for $194.50; if the vehicle sold for any figure
over that anount, the excess would go to the first |ienhol der
(here, GVAC), if the first Iien was outstanding, and then to the
owner of the car. |In the event that the owner could not be

| ocated, the noney would go to the state.
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title to him

Under Texas |aw, bona fide car sales are valid as between
buyer and seller even when they have not conplied with the
provisions of the Texas Certificate of Title Act, Tex. Rev. Qw.
STAT. ANN. art. 6687-1 (Vernon 1977). See United States v. Qunter,
876 F.2d 1113, 1117 n.4 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 110 S.C. 198
(1989). Although McNeely admttedly did not conply with the | egal
requi renents of transferring the title, the jury could have
concl uded that he owned the vehicle. There was no dispute at trial
bet ween McNeely and Meredith that McNeely had purchased the car in
1988. MNeely testified that he nade cash paynents to his sister
for her remaining paynents to GVAC, the car was paid off in March
1990. Prior to Decenber 15, 1990, McNeely had paid all outstandi ng
debt on the car to GVAC or Meredith. MNeely, with his nother's
hel p, paid for all repairs needed. After selling the car to her
brother, Meredith did not use her own noney for paynents, nor did
she pay for gas, repairs, or insurance for the vehicle. MNeely
explained the failure to transfer the title as an attenpt to avoid
payi ng additional finance charges to GVAC. There was sufficient
evidence for the jury to find that McNeely owned the Camaro at the
time he took it to Buy Direct for repairs.
I11. Court Records

Bomar cl ains that the governnent did not prove that he failed
to apply for a court order allowng foreclosure on the lien on
McNeely's car or to receive court approval for such a proceeding.

At trial, the governnent called Maria O Mkinen, a snall

clains court clerk at Precinct One, Position Two, in Harris County,
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Texas; Abe Martinez, the chief assistant of the Harris County
District Court Cerk's office; and Melissa Steinbacher, the
operations manager for the Cerk's Ofice for the United States
District Court. Each of these witnesses testified that searches of
the records of their respective courts for the nonths of Decenber
1990 t hrough May 1991 had reveal ed neither an application for, nor
a court order granting, permssion for Bomar or Buy Direct to
forecl ose upon a |ien against any person. Bomar chal | enges the
conpl et eness of this evidence. !?

We concl ude that the evidence submtted by the governnent is
sufficient for a reasonable jury to conclude that Bomar did not
take steps to attain court approval of any forecl osure proceedi ngs.
The jury had before it vol um nous evidence of Bomar's course of
conduct in this matter, including evidence that although warned
that his actions could constitute a violation of the Act he
continued to pursue the full paynent of storage fees. None of this
evi dence cont ai ns any hint of any actual, contenpl ated, threatened,
or clainmed court proceedings.

W hold that, taken in its entirety, the evidence was

12 Bomar argues that the small clains court was not the proper
venue and woul d not have had any records of such a proceedi ng.

In addition, Abe Martinez admitted on cross-exam nation that his
of fice contained records only for the civil district courts in
Harris County, not the county courts. M. Steinbacher conceded
that her search of the federal court records woul d not have

| ocated the enforcenent proceeding if it was ancillary to another
court matter. Finally, Bomar tries to discredit Ms.

St ei nbacher's testinony on the technical grounds that she failed
to indicate the particular district for which she held the
position. Counsel did not elicit a clarification of this matter.
Presumabl y, she is the operations manager for the United States
District Court for the Southern District of Texas, the district
court which enconpasses Houst on.
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sufficient in this respect.
| V. Household Goods, Furniture, or Personal Effects

Finally, although this issue was not raised by the defendant
either before the district court or on appeal, we consider the
question of whether MNeely's Camaro is within the Act's coverage
of "househol d goods, furniture or personal effects." ¥ This is
a question of first inpression.* As noted, the Act is to be
liberally construed to protect those in mlitary service. Boone.

In Arthur v. Mdirgan, 5 S.C. 241 (1884), the Court held that
afamly's carriage was covered by the term"household effects" as
used in the statute exenpting fromcustons duties "Books, househol d
effects, or libraries, or parts of libraries, in use, of persons or
famlies fromforeign countries.” In Hllhouse v. United States,
152 Fed. 163 (2d G r. 1907), the Court, relying on Arthur, held
that an autonobile was "household effects”" within the then nore
recent statutory exenption from custons duties for "Books,
librarises [sic], usual and reasonable furniture, and simlar
househol d effects of persons or famlies fromforeign countries .

not intended for any other person or persons, nor for sale."

13 Counsel for the defendant at oral argunent stated that she
considered the car to be a personal effect.

14 | ndeed, to our know edge, there are no cases discussing a
violation of this particular section of the Act at all.

15 In United States v. WR Gace & Co., 166 F. 748 (2d Cir.
1909), the court distinguished H |l house and held that under the
gquoted statute an autonobile was not exenpt, stating:

"The insertion of the word "simlar' indicates that
Congress intended to do away with the exenption of
househol d effects generally, and to restrict it to such
as should be |Iike books, libraries, or household
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We can see no substantial difference between "househol d goods, " as
used in section 535(2), and "household effects" as used in the
statute under consideration in Arthur.?®

W note that while the term "personal effects" has in sone
state decisions, principally wll cases, been construed to excl ude
autonobiles on the theory that the termis restricted to tangible
property worn or carried about the person or having sone intinate
relationship to the person, Matter of Estate of Roddy, 784 P.2d
841, 843 (Col. App. 1989), in other such cases the term has been
held to include autonobiles. See, e.g., In re Jones' Estate, 128
Msc. 244, 218 NY.S. 380 (NY. Surrogate C. 1926) (two

autonobiles within the will's bequest of personal effects'"); In

re Gnnever's Estate, 69 N Y.S 2d 452 (N Y. Surrogate C. 1945)

(notor boot wthin bequest of my ot her personal and househol d
effects'"). The decisions go both ways and are |likely not entirely
reconcil able. See Ann. 30 A L.R 3d 797 at 825-26, 836-38 (1970).

17 As has been pointed out, nuch depends on the context. See Inre

furniture. W think that autonobil es cannot be said to

be simlar to books, libraries, or to usual and
reasonabl e household furniture, or either of them"
|d. at 749.

Here, however, the Act plainly does enconpass househol d goods
"generally."

16 See, e.g., Inre Mtchell's WII, 38 N VY.S. 2d 673, 675 (N.Y.
Surrogate Ct. 1942) ("[t]he word '"effects' is nearly synonynous
wth 'goods' M)

17 This annotation states "[a] nunber of cases have hel d that
the term ' personal effects' or '"effects' . . . in the wills being
construed, passed autonobiles or other notor vehicles,"” id. at
836, and "[a] nunber of cases have held that the term' personal
effects' . . . inthe wills being construed, did not pass

aut onobil es or other notor vehicles." |1d. at 838.
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Burnside's WIIl, 185 Msc. 808, 59 N. Y. S. 2d 829 (N. Y. Surrogate Ct.

1945).1® For this reason, the Suprene Court in Arthur observed t hat

18 In Burnside the court held that the thirty-fourth clause of
the will leaving to seven different persons "'the residue of ny
househol d goods and personal effects'" did not include an

aut onobi | e, because the preceding thirty-three clauses nade

speci fic bequests of specific itens such as rugs, tables, spoons,
a bracelet, a mrror, a vase, a bureau, etc. The court observed:

"After having | aboriously distributed anong many
persons carefully selected itens of househol d goods and
personal effects, the testatrix reached the thirty-
fourth clause, and to several different persons gave
"the residue of ny household goods and personal
effects.’

The Court is irresistibly drawn to the concl usion
t hat the househol d goods and personal effects which the
testatrix had in mnd when she reached the thirty-
fourth clause were in the sane class as those
particularly item zed in the preceding clauses. W
conclude that she did not intend to include the
autonobile in the thirty-fourth clause. |In nunerous
deci si ons, expressions such as 'personal effects' and
"househol d goods' have received a w der or narrower
interpretation by reason of other provisions in the
wll, the doctrine of ejusdem generis being applied.
See Estate of Lippincott, 173 Pa. 368, 34 A 58; Matter
of Steinmes' Estate, 150 Msc. 279, 270 N. Y.S. 339;
Child v. Oton, 119 N J.Ea. 438, 183 A 709, supra.

It appears fromthe records of this court that
many of the personal effects specifically item zed are
of conparatively slight value, while the autonobile in
guestion has been sold for sixteen hundred dollars
(%$1,600). The testatrix could not expect seven persons
W dely separated to enjoy jointly one autonobile. One
machi ne cannot be divided anong seven persons, and the
resi due of househol d goods and personal effects is not
sufficiently valuable so that the autonobile m ght be

allotted to one person and still nmake a proportionate
distribution to the other six." 1d. 59 N Y.S. 2d at
832- 33.

However, the court recogni zed that absent such speci al
cont extual considerations, the result woul d have been ot herw se.
Thus, it stated:

"When di sassoci ated fromother provisions in the
wll, the expression 'personal effects' clearly
ncludes an autonobile owned and used by a testator at
the tinme of his death. See Matter of Jones' Estate,

19



"no material aid can be derived fromdecisions inregard to wills"

as the construction there "often depends |argely on the neani ng of

words in other provisions inthewll.” 1d. 58S C. at 243. W do

note, however, that a recogni zed | egal dictionary defines "personal

effects" so as to include autonobiles,? and we have so used the

termin several of our opinions.?® Certainly, the presence of the

19
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128 M sc. 244, 218 N.Y.S. 380; Matter of Wnburn's
Estate, 139 Msc. 5, 247 N Y.S. 584; Mtter of
Thonpson's Estate, 218 App.Div. 130, 217 N Y.S. 865
affirmed on ot her grounds, 245 N. Y. 565, 157 N E. 859.
Simlarly, the expression 'household effects' has been
construed as including an autonobile (H |l house v.
United States, 2 CGr., 152 F. 163) or a carriage
(Arthur v. Mdrgan, 112 U S. 495, 5 S . C. 241, 28 L. Ed.
825) .

The expression 'househol d goods' may narrowy be
construed as applying only to articles in the house as
di stingui shed fromthose in a garage or other
out buil ding, but this narrow interpretation has not
al ways prevail ed, and an autonobile kept in a detached

garage has been held to be 'household goods.' WMatter
of Mtchell's WIIl, Sur., 38 NY.S 673. Simlarly, a
wll giving 'ny house (honestead) and contents of al

ki nds' has been interpreted as including an autonobile
and tools which were kept in a stable which was
situated on the testator's honestead prem ses. Cowan
v. Cowan, 90 N.H 198, 6 A 2d 179, 180. Also a wll
bequeathing "articles of personal, donestic, or
househol d use' has been thought to include an
automobile.” 1d. 59 NY.S 2d at 831-32.

Black's Law Dictionary (6th ed. 1990):

"Personal effects. Articles associated with person, as
property having nore or less intimate relation to
person of possessor; 'effects' neaning novabl e or
chattel property of any kind. Usual reference is to
such itens as the foll owi ng owned by a decedent at the
time of death: «clothing, furniture, jewelry, stanp and
coin collections, silverware, china, crystal, cooking
utensils, books, cars, televisions, radios, etc." |Id.
at 1143 (enphasi s added).

See, e.g., Inre Crist, 632 F.2d 1226, 1228 (5th Cr. 1980)

(in divorce context, describing transfer of "certain personal
effects, including . . . an autonobile"), cert. denied, 102 S. C

20



wor ds "personal effects” and "furniture” in section 535(2) does not
suggest a narrow construction for their conpanion phrase there
"househol d goods. "

It appears to us that, taken together, section 535(2)'s
reference to "household goods, furniture, or personal effects" is
i ntended to enbrace a broad category of tangi bl e personal property
held by mlitary personnel for their personal use, as opposed to
for business or investnent use.? |In this context, it is entirely
appropriate to follow Arthur and Hill house and conclude that a
soldier's personal autonobile is part of his "househol d goods" for

pur poses of section 535(2). 22

100 (1981); Snoot v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 299 F. 2d
525, 529 n.8 (5th Gr. 1962) (quoting conplaint referring to
aut onobil e "and ot her personal effects") (enphasis added);
Scofield v. Mauritz, 206 F.2d 135, 137 n.2 (5th G r. 1953)
(quoting district court findings concerning "personal effects
like . . . personal autonobiles") (enphasis added).

21 See al so Estate of Bloonmi ngdale, 142 N.Y.S.2d 781 (N.Y.
Surrogate Ct. 1955) (bequest of "all ny personal bel ongi ngs and
effects, and all ny household and house furnishings and effects”
i ncl uded yacht and six autonobiles); Inre Mtchell's WII, 38

N Y.S. 2d 673 (N. Y. Surrogate C. 1942) (bequest of "All of ny
jewelry, clothing, personal effects, bric-a-brac, paintings,

wor ks of art and all househol d goods and househol d furni shings of
every description” includes autonobile; apparently as "a part of

her 'household goods.'" Id. at 675); Goggans v. Simmons, 319
S.W2d 442 (Tex. Cv. App. Ft. Wrth, 1958, n.r.e.) (provision in
w Il concerning "the furnishings therein [referring to house

described in wll] and, all ny personal bel ongi ngs" covers
testator's autonobile).

22 W recogni ze that the term "household goods"” in 11 U S.C. §
522(f)(2) (A) has been held not to include notor vehicles. See,
e.g., Smth v. Avco Financial Services, 29 B.R 345 (Bankr.

M D. Pa. 1983). But, this is because 11 U S. C. 8§ 522(d)(2)
expressly covers "one notor vehicle,"” and that is hence clearly
excluded from11l U S.C. § 522(d)(3), which (except for "jewelry,"
which is specified in 8 522(d)(4)) lists the very sanme itens as
are listed in § 522(f)(2)(A). Moreover, the extensive
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W hold a soldier's personal autonobile, such as MNeely's
Camaro, is wthin the Act's coverage of "household goods,
furniture, or personal effects.™

Concl usi on
For the reasons stated, Bomar's conviction and sentence are

AFFI RVED.

particularized listing in 8 522(f)(2)(A) ("househol d furnishings,
househol d goods, wearing apparel, appliances, books, aninmals,
crops, nusical instrunments, or jewelry . . . held primarily for
the personal, famly or household are . . .") is also thought to
point to the sane result. See Smth at 346 ("'the inclusion of
the debtor's interest in a notor vehicle in § 522(d)(2), and the
om ssion of any nention of a notor vehicle in 8§ 522(f)'" and
"*[s]ince the statute |ists goods to be included within the
meani ng of "househol d goods," the statute necessarily nust be
narromy construed'"). See also Inre Vale, 110 B.R 396, 404
(Bankr. N.D.Ind. 1989) ("notor vehicles are expressly provided
for in 8 522(d)(2), while 8 522(f)(2)(A), (B) and (C) nmakes no
reference to notor vehicles"). W do not quarrel with any of

t hese cases. However, none of the considerations which were
influential in them are present here.
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